ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000184

RECEIVED

APR 27 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The State, Respondent,

v.

Derek Vander Collier, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT DEREK VANDER COLLIER

John L. Warren III
Simmons Law Firm, LLC
Columbia, SC 29201
Tel: (803) 779-4600
Fax: (803) 254-8874

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

Attorneys for Appellant Derek Vander Collier

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred by improperly limiting Appellant's closing argument and prohibiting Appellant from responding to the State's bolstering of its key witness?
- II. Whether the trial court erred by finding that Appellant's statements were given freely and voluntarily?
- III. Whether the trial court erred by allowing Justin Kirkman's in-court identification when the pretrial identification was unduly suggestive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and burglary, 2nd degree, violent arising out of the theft of a television from a Myrtle Beach motel. (*See* Indictments). The State brought Appellant to trial before the Honorable Steven H. John on December 9, 2014. Despite representing to the Court in a pre-trial status conference that a *Neil v. Biggers* hearing would be unnecessary, the Solicitor asked the State's second witness, Justin Kirkman, for an in-court identification. (R. pp. 77, 78, 81). Appellant made a motion for a mistrial, which was granted by the trial court. (R. pp. 80–83).

The State called the case to trial the following day, December 10, 2014, after conducting a *Neil v. Biggers* hearing. (R. p. 138). Appellant was convicted of burglary, 2nd degree, violent and acquitted of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 337). The trial court sentenced Appellant to thirteen years' incarceration, with credit for time served. (R. pp. 340, 352).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 20 and 21, 2013, the Jamaican Motor Inn ("the Jamaican")—a building located at the Caribbean Resort in Myrtle Beach—was closed so that the doors to the

rooms could be painted. (R. pp. 158, line 25; 159, lines 1-5; 163, lines 1-7). Justin Kirkman and another subcontractor were hired to paint the doors of these rooms. (R. p. 172, lines 12-13). Kirkman and his coworker finished the job late on the evening of November 20, 2013. (R. p. 173, line 2). As the doors were still wet, Kirkman remained at the Jamaican in order to check all the doors and close them as they dried. (R. p. 173, lines 2-5). Kirkman checked the doors approximately every thirty minutes. (R. p. 173, line 11). Shortly after midnight, Kirkman heard a door shut and went down to the third floor to investigate. (R. pp. 173, lines 24-25; 174, lines 1-5). Kirkman observed a light on in Room 309 and walked over and saw "a black gentleman with his hands on the TV, with gloves on, trying to remove the TV." (R. p. 175, lines 1-3). Kirkman asked what the man was doing there, and the man then turned, pulled out a semiautomatic handgun, put up the hood on his shirt, and fled the room. (R. p. 175, lines 3-13).

Kirkman "slowly follow[ed]" the man down the stairs and observed the man enter a gold or silver four-door sedan. (R. pp. 177, line 25; 178, lines 1-7). Kirkman observed the man drive by in the vehicle and saw a television in the backseat of the car. (R. p. 178, lines 17-23). Kirkman called the police, and met with officers approximately a week later to help prepare a sketch of the suspect. (R. p. 181, lines 1-25). Approximately three weeks later, police had Kirkman come in to view a photographic lineup. (R. p. 182, lines 17-25). Kirkman was not able to positively identify Appellant, who was one of the persons pictured in the lineup.¹ (R. p. 183, lines 17-23).

¹ Over one year later at trial, however, Kirkman identified Appellant as the man he observed in Room 309 of the Jamaican. (R. p. 184, lines, 17-21).

After the burglary, law enforcement began searching for gold Saturns in local parking lots and other areas.² (R. pp. 220, lines 22–25; 221, line 1). Detective Todd MacPherson located a gold Saturn nearby, but that proved to be a dead end. (R. pp. 221, lines 2–25; 222, lines 1–18; 227, lines 9–12). Late on January 29, 2014 or early on January 30, 2014, Detective Brian Truex observed Appellant walking down 6th Ave. South and Ocean Boulevard and stopped him related to outstanding warrants.³ (R. p. 229, lines 17–25). Detective Truex placed Appellant under arrest and conducted an interview at the Myrtle Beach Police Department jail. (R. p. 231, lines 1–7). The interview took place five to ten minutes after the arrest. (R. p. 231, lines 7–10). Appellant had recently smoked crack cocaine at the time. (R. p. 232, lines 4–7). Appellant's counsel objected as to the voluntariness of the statement. (R. pp. 234, lines 17–19; 235, lines 16–17). The trial court allowed the State to introduce this statement over Appellant's objection. (R. pp. 235, line 25; 236, line 1). During the interview, Appellant made incriminating statements about the burglary. (R. p. 237, lines 1–25). Appellant also stated that his mother owed a debt to drug dealers, which caused him to commit burglaries in order to repay the debt. (R. p. 239, lines 14–23).

Detective Carol Allen then testified at trial that she conducted two interviews with Appellant—one on January 30, 2014 and one on January 31, 2014. (R. p. 245, lines 14–15). The State only introduced the latter interview, during which Appellant expressed fear of several local criminals, including David Henry. (R. p. 255, lines 1–3). However, in-

² Catrisha Brandenburg—allegedly a friend of Appellant's—later testified that she had a gold Saturn, though she acknowledged that other people had access to it and had driven it before. (R. p. 277, lines 13–23).

³ It is unclear when or how law enforcement obtained a warrant for Appellant in this case.

formation that Appellant gave law enforcement during this interview led to the arrest of Henry on numerous charges. (R. p. 255, lines 19–24). During Appellant's interviews, he never admitted to having a gun. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 252, lines 13–14).

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court committed reversible error when it improperly limited Appellant's closing argument and prohibited Appellant from responding to the State's bolstering of Justin Kirkman's credibility.

A. Factual and Procedural History

Kirkman admitted during his testimony that he had previously been convicted of burglary and non-aggravated robbery in Colorado and was currently on probation for those charges. (R. p. 171, lines 5–22). Appellant's counsel obviously referred to these charges in attacking Kirkman's credibility in the trial. Additionally, during Kirkman's cross-examination, Appellant's counsel questioned him about inconsistencies in his statements to police. Initially, Kirkman told police that the suspect left in a silver car.⁴ (R. p. 193, lines 1–10). However, later Kirkman changed his story and said the vehicle was "silver or gold." (R. p. 193, lines 1–10). The State asked the trial court to allow it to introduce a prior consistent statement of Kirkman, contending that Appellant's counsel implied recent fabrication. (R. p. 197, lines 14–24). Appellant's counsel countered that such evidence would only operate as "bolstering testimony by the State". (R. p. 198, lines 3–4).

The trial court held that Appellant's questioning did not imply recent fabrication or improper influence or motive and did not allow the State to introduce the prior consistent statement. (R. p. 201, lines 1–18). However, the trial court did rule that "if it's the attention (sic) of the Defense to make [the] argument to the Jury that this witness is lying to

⁴ Officer Jake Roy later testified that Kirkman initially told him that he observed "a four-door silver car." (R. p. 207, line 23).

save himself from going back to jail, then I am going to allow the statement, because that is an argument by the Defense of improper influence or motive." (R. p. 201, lines 14–18). On redirect, the State's first question to Kirkman was: "[I]f you were convicted of perjury or lying to the police, that would get you a probation revocation, too, wouldn't it?" (R. p. 203, lines 19–22).

During Appellant's closing argument, the State objected to Appellant making reference to Kirkman's motivation for committing the crime. (R. p. 310, lines 9–10). Specifically, the State contended that Appellant contravened the Court's earlier ruling that Appellant not argue that Kirkman recently fabricated his testimony or had an improper influence or motive, and the State asked the trial court to reopen the case so that it could introduce Kirkman's prior consistent statement. (R. pp. 310, lines 23–25; 311, lines 1–5).

Appellant argued in response that:

The State in their closing argument went to great length about Justin Kirkman's believability and reliability. They went to great length about saying that he gave a statement and what he said was true. I certainly don't think that I would now be precluded from attacking a witness' credibility and reliability.

(R. p. 311, lines 15–20).

The trial court ruled that Appellant was making an argument about recent fabrication or improper motive but declined to reopen the case. (R. pp. 312, lines 1–16; 317, lines 3–4). However, the trial court directed Appellant's counsel that he "not imply the improper motive argument in such that, regarding Mr. Kirkman, that he is fabricating something to save himself from prosecution or going to jail or revocation of his probation." (R. p. 317, lines 14–18).

B. Analysis

During the State's closing argument, the solicitor extensively referenced Kirkman's prior criminal history and argued to the jury that Kirkman would not lie because he risked perjury charges or violating his probation. Specifically, the solicitor stated:

What further motivation does Justin have to tell the truth? Well, at least for a little while longer, he's doing well, he might get off probation early but as of right now he's still on probation. If he were to be convicted of lying to the police or lying to the Court, he could go to jail, he could go to prison. He has a lot of incentive to tell the truth. . . . Justin has *no motivation to lie*.

(R. pp. 297, lines 13–19; 298, lines 7–8).

When Appellant's counsel attempted to rebut these statements during Appellant's closing argument, the State objected and the trial court instructed Appellant's counsel that such argument was improper given his earlier ruling on the prior consistent statement. (R. pp. 310, lines 9–25; 312, lines 1–16). This ruling was error, for Appellant's argument to the jury was an invited response to the State's bolstering of Kirkman's credibility by strongly intimating to the jury that Kirkman would never lie because he could go to jail for perjury. The law cannot countenance inconsistent standards applied to prosecutors and defense counsel.

The State was allowed to argue that Kirkman "has no motivation to lie." (R. p. 298, lines 7–8). Surely they cannot conversely be allowed to protest vigorously when defense counsel argued in reply that, in fact, Kirkman had a strong motivation to lie. Indeed, the appellate courts of this State have permitted argument as to a witness's motive to lie during closing arguments, particularly when it is necessary in lieu of comments made by the opposing party. See *Ellenburg v. State*, 267 S.C. 66, 69, 625 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2006) (finding that a solicitor's argument that a witness would not lie or change his story be-

cause he was facing a polygraph “was in fair response to [defense] counsel’s argument regarding the polygraph. Once the defendant opens the door, the solicitor’s invited response is appropriate so long as it does not unfairly prejudice the defendant.”).

Kirkman was the State’s key witness and the only eyewitness to the crime. More importantly, Kirkman had a conviction for burglary and robbery. Depriving Appellant of the right to argue Kirkman’s motivation to lie after the State repeatedly bolstered his credibility strikes at the very heart of Due Process. *See Vasquez v. State*, 388 S.C. 447, 458, 698 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2010) (“Solicitors are bound to rules of fairness in their closing arguments.” (quoting *State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. 207, 222, 641 S.E.2d 873, 881 (2007)); *see also State v. Frost*, 161 P.3d 361, 366 (Wash. 2007) (“Improper limitation of closing argument may also infringe upon a defendant’s Fourteenth Amendment due process rights.”). “In an adversarial system[,] due process requires at least a reasonably level playing field at trial.” *Giron v. State*, 19 S.W.3d 572, 575 (Tex. App. 2000) (quoting *DeFreece v. State*, 848 S.W.2d 150, 159 (Tex. Crim. App. 1993)). This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial so that Appellant has the opportunity to have his guilt determined in a proceeding where the same rules apply to the State and the Defense.

II. The trial court committed reversible error by finding that Appellant’s statements were given freely and voluntarily.

A. Factual and Procedural History

Prior to trial, Appellant’s counsel moved to exclude Appellant’s statements, arguing that Appellant’s statements were not given freely and voluntarily. (R. p. 12). The State called Brian Carl Truex, formerly a violent crimes detective with the Myrtle Beach Police Department, to testify about Appellant’s first statement. (R. p. 14, lines 14–25). Detective

Truex interviewed Appellant at the Myrtle Beach Police Department jail immediately after Appellant's arrest on the evening of January 30, 2014. (R. p. 15, lines 17–25).

Detective Truex testified that Appellant, who only had a tenth grade education, “stated that he had smoked crack about forty-five minutes prior to the interview.” (R. pp. 16, lines 24–25; 26, lines 11–13). Although Detective Truex offered to conduct the interview at a later time, he ultimately did not delay the interview to ensure that the effects of the drugs had worn off. (R. p. 19, lines 1–19). During cross-examination, Detective Truex acknowledged that he had no first-hand knowledge of the effects of crack cocaine and “wouldn't know what that feels like.” (R. p. 21, lines 12–15). Moreover, Detective Truex admitted that intoxication on crack cocaine “can impair your decisions.” (R. p. 22, lines 15–17).

Following Detective Truex's testimony, Appellant's counsel moved to suppress Appellant's first statement based on *Jackson v. Denno* and its progeny. (R. p. 32, lines 7–12). Appellant's counsel contended that Appellant did not knowingly and intelligently waive his constitutional rights because he was intoxicated on crack cocaine, which impaired his ability to understand the seriousness of his charges and his constitutional rights at issue. (R. p. 33, lines 7–25). Additionally, counsel argued that Appellant only has a tenth grade education and was coerced by implied promises of leniency made by the interrogating officer. (R. pp. 34, lines 11–21; 35, lines 2–20). The trial court denied Appellant's motion, finding that Appellant's first statement was given voluntarily. (R. p. 37, lines 4–25; 38, lines 1–25; 39, lines 1–8).

Following the trial court's ruling on Appellant's first statement, the State played Appellant's second and third statements to the trial court. (R. pp. 41, lines 14–25; 46, lines

21–22; 47, lines 8–9). Detective Carol Allen, who conducted both interviews, testified at the hearing. (R. pp. 42–54). Detective Allen acknowledged that "[Appellant's] understanding was that he was implicating himself in order to either help [Drug Enforcement Unit] or help [her] office in the prosecution of other people." (R. p. 51, lines 16–19). Additionally, Detective Allen told Appellant that she would "put in a good word for [him]." (R. p. 53, lines 6–8). However, Detective Allen did not attend Appellant's bond hearing to testify on his behalf. (R. p. 53, lines 10–13).

Appellant then testified at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing. (R. p. 51). Appellant testified that he had smoked crack "four to five minutes before [the police] arrested [him]." (R. p. 56, lines 3–4). Appellant also testified that Detective Truex found a crack pipe on him when he was arrested. (R. p. 56, lines 10–12). Further, Appellant testified that Detective Truex told him he would "end [his] days as a free man" if he didn't cooperate with law enforcement. (R. p. 57, lines 15–16).

Appellant's counsel then argued that the third statement should be excluded⁵ from trial because Appellant's will was overborne when law enforcement made promises of leniency in exchange for Appellant's cooperation. (R. p. 63, lines 3–25). Moreover, Appellant's counsel argued that had Appellant not his first statement under the influence of drugs, he would not have given a subsequent statement, rendering the third statement involuntary. (R. pp. 63, lines 22–25; 64, lines 1–4). The trial court found that Appellant's third statement was voluntarily given. (R. pp. 65, lines 6–25; 66, lines 1–25; 67, lines 1–21).

⁵ The State acknowledged that it did not intend to introduce Appellant's second statement at trial, so arguments were limited to Appellant's third statement. (See R. p. 41, lines 2–4).

B. Analysis

“Under *Jackson v. Denno*, a defendant is entitled to a ‘reliable determination as to the voluntariness of his [statement] by a tribunal other than the jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence.’” *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 381, 652 S.E.2d 444, 450 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *State v. Fortner*, 266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976)). “A criminal defendant is deprived of due process if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession.” *State v. Parker*, 381 S.C. 68, 75, 671 S.E.2d 619, 622 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 565, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164 (2007)). “The trial judge must determine if under the totality of the circumstances a statement was knowingly, intelligibly, and voluntarily made.” *Miller*, 375 S.C. at 382, 652 S.E.2d at 450 (citations omitted). The State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant’s statement was voluntary. *Id.*

In this case, the uncontroverted evidence shows that Appellant smoked crack cocaine approximately forty-five minutes prior to his first interview. Crack cocaine is “a highly addictive and powerful stimulant derived from powdered cocaine.” *Arrington v. Astrue*, 2011 WL 3844172, at *5 n.7 (W.D.N.Y. Aug. 8, 2011). It logically follows that Appellant was still intoxicated during the interview. Although crack cocaine is well known to have a short duration, it is equally well known as being highly addictive, causing users to repeatedly seek hit after hit of the drug. Thus, even if the primary effects of the drugs had worn off, Appellant was likely in a position where he would do almost anything to get out of jail. It is clear from Appellant’s interview that he desired to be as cooperative as possible in order to help himself out, but it is equally apparent from the context of the interview that Appellant’s decisions were very likely affected by his intoxication.

It is within the ambit of common knowledge that drugs often cause people to do things that they would not otherwise do. While Detective Truex offered to conduct the interview at a later time, the far more prudent course would have been to simply delay the interview to ensure that Appellant was not under the influence of drugs. The circumstances of the crime in this case do not indicate any type of exigency or other extraordinary situation that would require interviewing Appellant immediately after arrest. While this may have proved to be an inconvenience for officers, constitutional dictates trump pragmatic concerns. In fact, Detective Truex admitted that intoxication on crack cocaine “can impair your decisions.” (R. p. 22, lines 15–17). In light of this, this Court should find, under the totality of circumstances, that Appellant’s first statement was involuntary due to his intoxication and his third statement was involuntary as a result.

III. The trial court erred by allowing Justin Kirkman’s in-court identification when the pretrial identification was unduly suggestive.

A. Factual and Procedural History

After declaring a mistrial in Appellant's first trial, the trial court conducted a *Neil v. Biggers* hearing. (R. pp. 91–133). The State first called Detective Todd Macpherson, who was the investigator that prepared a photographic lineup a little over a month after the burglary occurred. (R. pp. 92–93). Six photographs were displayed in the lineup, with all being full black and white headshots. (R. pp. 93, lines 11–19; 94, line 12). Appellant's photograph was located in the number 2 spot on the lineup. (R. p. 94, line 1). Appellant was the only person who had a hooded sweatshirt on in the lineup. (R. p. 97, lines 17–19). After preparing the lineup, Detective Macpherson gave the lineup to Detective Lester Cook. (R. p. 94, line 22).

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