ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
MAY 12 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000184

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

DEREK VANDER COLLIER.....APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528
(843) 915-8608

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly found Counsel failed to timely object to the State's alleged bolstering of witness Kirkman's credibility during the State's closing argument, and properly limited Counsel's further allegations that Kirkman had an improper motive to lie, based upon the trial court's earlier ruling denying the State's request to introduce Kirkman's prior consistent statements in exchange for Counsel abstaining from arguing or implying Kirkman had an improper motive.

A. Factual and Procedural History

Approximately five years prior to Appellant's trial, Kirkman was convicted of burglary and non-aggravated robbery in Colorado and was sentenced to ten years' probation on those charges. The State initiated discussion of these charges during its direct examination of Kirkman. During cross-examination, Counsel questioned Kirkman's comments to police, challenging: (1) his description of Appellant; (2) his ability to observe the crime, based on the time of night and available light sources; (3) his failure to inform officers that Appellant had a TV in the back of his vehicle; and (4) his description of the car, notably its make and paint color. (R.p.171, lines 5–19; R.p.190, line 14–R.p.192, line 2; R.p.193, line 2–R.p.195, line 22).

Counsel also engaged in a line of questioning which cast doubt on the truthfulness of Kirkman's story, implying Kirkman was the actual burglar that night. The relevant portion of the exchange proceeded as follows:

Q: And you're currently on probation?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And if you were to commit another crime, that probation could be revoked, couldn't it?

...

Q: How much time is over your head?

A: Five years.

Q: So you're looking at a possible five years in prison if you are convicted of another crime?

A: That is correct.

...

Q: And you certainly didn't have a right to take a TV from that -- from the Jamaican, did you?

A: No, sir.

Q: And if you were caught taking the TV from Room 310 or from any other room in the Jamaican and it was reported you were the only one there, you could be facing possible charges?

A: That is correct.

Q: Which would revoke your probation?

A: Yes, sir, if someone charged me with that.

...

Q: And you go up for a review of your probation in June, right?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: It'd be good to have someone like the State on your side during the review, wouldn't it?

A: I think my five years of excellent behavior and working hard to become a good citizen, I think that would speak for -- enough for myself.

...

Q: And again, if the hotel found out a TV was missing and you were the only one there and you were arrested for that, you'd face five years in jail?

A: Yes, sir.

(emphasis added). At the conclusion of cross-examination, the trial judge had the jury leave the courtroom, and the State moved to introduce a recorded interview with Kirkman as a prior consistent statement, due to Counsel's questions implying Kirkman fabricated the details of his testimony. Counsel objected to using the prior consistent statement, arguing the use of the statement would be bolstering, and that Appellant's own questions were generalized about what Kirkman "knows and [did not] know." (R.p.188, line 24–R.p.190, line 5; R.p.192, lines 17–24; R.p.196, lines 20–23; R.p.196, line 25–R.p.198, line 8).

The trial judge disagreed, and noted Counsel asked Kirkman "very specific" questions regarding details of the report he made to police and details about the crime. After listening to the recording of the prior consistent statement, Counsel admitted he challenged the details of Kirkman's description of the Saturn, and that the State could only play the portion of the statement involving the vehicle's description. The State disagreed with Counsel's characterization of his cross-examination and claimed that Counsel also attacked Kirkman's description of Appellant to police, as well as the amount of time Kirkman was able to observe Appellant. (R.p.198, line 10–R.p.200, line 12).

The trial judge found, pursuant to Rule 801, SCRE, and State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 582 S.E.2d 426 (2003), that although Counsel's questions about Kirkman's prior inconsistent statement called his credibility into question, Counsel's questions did not rise to the level of charging the witness with recent fabrication or improper influence or motive. The trial judge further stated:

The only argument that I can see is if [Counsel] is attempting and will attempt in the future through other

witnesses [and arguing] at closing an improper influence or motive and that . . . to save himself from a probation violating that he is lying now to save himself So, if it's the [intention] of [Counsel] to make that argument to the Jury that this witness is lying to save himself from going back to jail, then I am going to allow the statement, because that is an argument by [Counsel] of improper influence or motive.

After conversing with Appellant, Counsel stated it was not their intention to argue Kirkman's testimony was the result of an improper influence or motive. Accordingly, the trial judge found the State was not permitted to introduce Kirkman's prior consistent statement pursuant to Rule 801, SCRE. (R.p.200, line 13–R.p.202, line 21).

On redirect, the State asked Kirkman whether revocation of his probation was "tremendous incentive to tell the truth," to which Kirkman replied in the affirmative. Kirkman, when specifically questioned, also denied stealing televisions from the Jamaican. (R.p.203, lines 19–24).

During its closing, the State repeatedly commented on Kirkman's testimony. The most notable of the State's comments were:

What was [Kirkman's] motivation to give his statement, he was doing his job, his job was to patrol that hotel and make sure nobody took the stuff. . . . What further motivation does [Kirkman] have to tell the truth? . . . If he were to be convicted of lying to the police or lying to the [c]ourt, he would go to jail, he could go to prison. He has a lot of incentive to tell the truth . . . Again, everything [Kirkman] says lines up with the rest of the testimony, lines up with the admissions of [Appellant] himself. [Kirkman] has no motivation to lie. [He] is a reliable witness.

Counsel failed to object to these comments during and after the State's closing. (R.p.294, lines 8–23; R.p.297, lines 13–19; R.p.298, lines 5–8).

During closing, Counsel attacked Kirkman's general credibility and reliability. However, at one point, Counsel attempted to imply Kirkman had an improper motivation for testifying. Notably, Counsel stated: "You tell me who has got motivation. Justin Kirkman has motivation, already convicted felon already on probation." The State immediately objected, and the jury exited the courtroom so the parties could discuss Counsel's comments. Based on the open attack on Kirkman's credibility, the State moved to reopen the case so that it could introduce his prior consistent statement into evidence. Counsel objected, claiming that they should not be precluded from attacking Kirkman's credibility and reliability. (R.p.310, line 6–R.p.311, line 20).

The trial judge berated Counsel, and noted that the reason he did not permit the State to play Kirkman's prior consistent statement was because Counsel promised they would not imply Kirkman had an improper motive for testifying. Counsel insisted they were not implying Kirkman had an improper motive, and that the State had improperly bolstered Kirkman's testimony by stating Kirkman would face perjury charges if he was lying. Accordingly, Counsel contended the State opened to the door to the discussion of Kirkman's motivation. However, the Court quickly noted that Counsel failed to timely object to the State's alleged "bolstering" and were thus unable to address that issue at that time. (R.p.311, line 21–R.p.314, line 21).

After hearing additional arguments from both parties about reopening the case to allow the prior consistent statement into evidence, the trial judge noted he had the authority to grant the State's motion to reopen the case and introduce the prior consistent statement, but decided against doing so. However, he noted Counsel was making arguments to the jury that the trial judge "had clearly indicated [Counsel] [were] not to

make," because they had chosen to not make said arguments in exchange for the exclusion of the prior consistent statement. Accordingly, the trial judge ordered Counsel to abstain from any further arguments regarding Kirkman's motive but allowed counsel to attack Kirkman's credibility in any other way. (R.p.314, line 25–R.p.318, line 15).

B. Analysis

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in limiting Appellant's closing argument and preventing him from responding to the State's "bolstering" of Kirkman's credibility. The State disagrees with Appellant's allegation of error; the State's arguments were not bolstering as defined by South Carolina law, and Counsel failed to timely object to the State's comments. Additionally, Counsel: (1) implied Kirkman had an improper motive during cross-examination, prior to the trial judge's ruling limiting the scope of his attack; (2) was given the opportunity to respond to the State's comments, but elected not to do so in exchange for the trial judge preventing the State from introducing Kirkman's prior consistent statement; and (3) was permitted to, and did, attack the general credibility of Kirkman on cross-examination and during his closing arguments.

The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007); see State v. Heath, 232 S.C. 384, 391, 102 S.E.2d 268, 272 (1958) ("Necessarily the conduct of a trial is largely within the discretion of the presiding judge, to the end that a fair and impartial trial may be had."). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

Pursuant to the trial judge's discretion regarding the manner in which a criminal trial is conducted, a trial judge has the discretion to control the time at which the testimony will be introduced, to reopen the evidentiary record, and to allow additional evidence or testimony to be presented. State v. Humphery, 276 S.C. 42, 43, 274 S.E.2d 918, 918 (1981); see State v. Clyburn, 16 S.C. 375, 378 (1882) ("The conduct of a case in the Circuit Court, so far as relates to the time when testimony may be introduced, must be left to the discretion of the Circuit judge, to be governed by the particular circumstances of each case."). Critically, "[a] trial is a search for the truth; concomitantly, liberality is the linchpin of the rule." State v. Wren, 322 S.C. 103, 105, 470 S.E.2d 111, 112 (Ct. App. 1996).

Likewise, decisions as to whether to admit or exclude evidence are generally left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-91, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980). As a result, an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's decision to admit or exclude evidence absent a clear prejudicial abuse of the trial judge's broad discretion in evidentiary matters. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice."); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) ("A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.").

"A solicitor's argument concerning the credibility of the State's witnesses based on the record and its reasonable inferences is not error." State v. Caldwell, 300 S.C. 494, 505, 388 S.E.2d 816, 822 (1990). However, "[a] solicitor's closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors," and further "may not be calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices." State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). Improper vouching or bolstering "occurs when the prosecution places the government's prestige behind a witness by making explicit personal assurances of a witness' veracity, or where a prosecutor implicitly vouches for a witness' veracity by indicating information not presented to the jury supports the testimony." State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 630, 545 S.E.2d 805, 818 (2001).

Under South Carolina law, a witness's prior consistent statement may be used as substantive evidence to rehabilitate a trial witness. State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 621, 582 S.E.2d 426, 430 (2003). However, such a statement is admissible under Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE or is not admissible at all. Id. To be admissible, a consistent statement must be "offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive; provided, however, the statement must have been made before the alleged fabrication or before the alleged improper influence or motive arose." Rule 803 (d)(1)(b), SCRE (emphasis added).

Conduct that would otherwise be improper may be excused under the "invited reply" doctrine if a party's conduct was an appropriate response to statements or arguments made by the opposing party. United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 13 (1985); Vaughn v. State, 362 S.C. 163, 169, 607 S.E.2d 72, 75 (2004). However, the invited response doctrine, applied to a party's closing arguments, is not used to justify the use of

improper comments, but merely to determine their effect on the trial as a whole. See Vaughn, 362 S.C. at 169, 607 S.E.2d at 75. In fact, the better policy, rather than allowing invited responses to another party's inappropriate comments during closing, is to object to the opposing party's improper statements along with a timely warning and curative instruction to the jury. See Young, 470 U.S. at 13. Failure to make a timely objection to inappropriate closing arguments fails to preserve such issues for appellate review. See id.

Initially, the State notes Appellant's argument is not preserved because Counsel failed to timely object to the State's closing arguments. See id. Furthermore, even if the State's comments were inappropriate, they did not justify Counsel making their own inappropriate comments. See Vaughn, 362 S.C. at 169, 607 S.E.2d at 75.

Moreover, the State's comments about Kirkman's motive did not constitute bolstering. The State's argument that Kirkman had no motive to lie was based on information raised by counsel during cross-examination—that he was on probation for crimes which occurred five years prior to trial and that conviction of any crimes would result in him losing his probation—and reasonable inferences about that information—that Kirkman would not risk endangering his probation by lying to police. Discussion of facts in the record and reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom does not constitute bolstering. See Caldwell, 300 S.C. at 505, 388 S.E.2d at 822.

Even if the issue were properly before the Court—and the statements in question actually constituted bolstering—Appellant was not prejudiced by the trial judge's alleged error because Counsel, at several points throughout the trial, directly and indirectly alleged Kirkman had an improper motive. A cursory review of the trial transcript of Kirkman's cross-examination shows Counsel asked numerous questions which implied

Kirkman had an improper motive in reporting the burglary to police and identifying Appellant. Moreover, Counsel made a direct accusation of said improper motive during closing argument, and although the trial judge ordered Counsel to abstain from further allegations of improper motive, no corrective instruction was issued. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err.

II.

The trial court properly found Appellant's statements to police were given freely and voluntarily.

A. Factual and Procedural History

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